
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Rachael Liles, Democratic Services (01254) 380136 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 24 November 2020 

Page 1 of 2  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning Committee 
 
Wednesday, 2 December 2020 at 3.30 pm, 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VZPXTzn7_4c 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Eamonn Higgins 
Vice-Chair:  Councillor Dave Parkins 
 
Councillors Judith Addison, Jean Battle MBE, Stephen Button, Stewart Eaves, Abdul Khan, 
Patrick McGinley, Paddy Short, Kate Walsh, Terry Hurn, June Harrison and Melissa Fisher 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

  Minutes of the Last Meeting  (Pages 3 - 4) 
 

To submit the minutes of the Planning Committee held on the 26th February 2020 
for approval as a correct record.  
 
Recommended – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct 
record.  
 

  Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination  
(Pages 5 - 14) 
 

3A. 11/20/0369 – 36 Nuttall Street, (Former Britannia Public House), 

Accrington, BB5 2HN  

 

Change of use of public house into 13 bed house in multiple occupation.   

 
Recommended – That the planning application be determined as set out in 

MUNICIPAL YEAR 2020-2021 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

the report.  
 

 



 

 
1 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Wednesday, 26th February, 2020 

 
Present:  Councillor Eamonn Higgins (in the Chair), Councillors Dave Parkins (Vice 

Chair), Judith Addison, Jean Battle MBE, Stewart Eaves, Diane Fielding, 
Abdul Khan, Patrick McGinley, Kath Pratt, Paddy Short and Loraine Cox 
 

Apologies: Councillors Melissa Fisher and Kate Walsh 

  

 

1 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declarations of Interest and 
Dispensations 
 
 Apologies for absence were submitted from Councillor Kate Walsh.  
 
There were no reported declarations of interest. 
 

2 Minutes of the Last Meeting 
 
The minutes of the last Planning Committee held on the 26th February 2020, were 
submitted for approval as a correct record.  
 
Resolved - That, subject to:  
 

- the inclusion of the words “Diane Fielding,” after “Stewart Eaves,” and 

“Patrick Short,” after “Miles Parkinson OBE”, in the details for 

Apologies set out in the attendance information of the header section 

and in the first sentence at Minute 199;  

 
- the minutes be received  and approved as a correct record.  

 
3 Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for 

Determination 
 
The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report setting out 
recommended action on the following planning applications. 
 

Resolved – (1) That the site be visited by Planning Committee.   
 
11/19/0450 21 Southwood Drive, BB5 2PZ 
Erection of conservatory. 
 
NB.  1. Councillor Kath Pratt requested that this application be determined by the 

Council’s Planning Committee. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

2. Mr Maurice O’Neill spoke at the Committee in objection of the above 
planning application. 

 
 
Resolved – (2) That the following application be approved subject to the  
conditions as per the report. 
 
11/19/0423 – 128 Hollins Lane, BB5 2JS. 
 
NB.  1. Councillor Kath Pratt requested that this application be determined by the 

Council’s Planning Committee.  
 

Resolved (3) – That the following application be refused for the following 
reason: 
 

- The proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

The proposal causes harm to openness of the Green Belt. The 

considerations in favour of development do not clearly outweigh the 

harm to the Green Belt and any other harm caused by the proposal. As 

such, the Very Special Circumstance test has not been met. The 

proposal is contrary to Policy BD1 of the Hyndburn Core Strategy, 

Policies DM15 and DM34 of the Development Management 

Development Plan Document and the provisions of the National 

Planning Policy Framework and the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites.   

 

- In addition, that Enforcement Action be commenced to remedy the 

breach of planning control that has taken place at the site.   

 
NB.  1. The Chair requested that this application be determined by the Council’s 

Planning Committee on the grounds of the impact on the Greenbelt and that 
development has gone ahead on this site without permission. 

 

2. That Enforcement Action be commenced to remedy the breach of planning 

control that has taken place at the site.   

 

 
 

 
Signed:…………………………………………… 

 
Date: …………….………………………………………… 

 
Chair of the meeting 

At which the minutes were confirmed 
 

 

Page 4



Hyndburn Borough Council – Committee Report 

 

Application Ref:    11/20/0369 

  

Application Address:  36 NUTTALL STREET (FORMER BRITANNIA PUBLIC 

HOUSE) ACCRINGTON BB5 2HN 

 

Date Registered:   20 October 2020 

 

Date for Decision:   30 November 2020 

 

Date Report Written:  20 November 2020 

 

Description of Development:  Change of use of public house into 13 bed house in 

multiple occupation.   

 

HUMAN RIGHTS  

 

The relevant provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and the European Convention on 

Human Rights have been taken into account in the preparation of this report, particularly the 

implications arising from the following rights:-  

 

Article 8  

The right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence.  

 

Article 1 of Protocol 1 

The right of peaceful enjoyment of possessions and protection of property. 

 

Site and Proposal 

 

The application site comprises the former public house located on the corner of Nuttall Street 

and South Street in Woodnook, Accrington.  36 Nuttall Street is a stone-built two-storey end 

terrace property, the public house occupied the ground floor and residential development 

was on the first floor.  There is also a cellar.  The rear of the property is accessed from 

Nelson Street.  The property has not been used as a public house for some time and is in a 

poor state of repair.   

 

The application proposes the conversion of the building into a 13 bed HMO over three floors 

with a communal kitchen/living area on the first floor and in the basement.  Each bedroom 

has a small en-suite bathroom, which is not included in the measurement of the floor space 

of the bedroom itself.  The smallest 4 bedrooms measure between 6.67 and 7.36 m2 in size.   

The remaining bedrooms range from 7.83 to 13.29 m2.  The proposed plans suggest these 

would be single bedrooms.   

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



Consultations 

 

Neighbours: One letter of representation (objection) has been submitted raising 

concerns about noise from the proposed development causing noise 

pollution to adjoining properties.  No reference is made in the 

application to the historic construction and acoustic considerations.   

 

 

LCC Highways  

 

Nuttall Street (U16640) is an adopted, urban, single, 2 way road, with a 20 mph speed limit. 

An investigation of the 5 year accident record shows no collisions have occurred in the 

vicinity of no. 36. Under Hyndburn Borough Council's adopted parking and access standards 

houses in multiple occupation should provide parking at the rate of 1 space per one 

bedroom. However, no off road parking is available for the property with all parking taking 

place on the highway network. The site itself is located at the edge of centre being within 

approximately 150m of the Accrington town centre boundary. As such it could be considered 

that the site is sustainable having reasonable access to local goods, services and transport 

links. Consequently a reduction in car parking standards could be considered acceptable. 

On street parking is available to the building frontage (albeit time restricted during the day).  

 

The existing Traffic Regulation Order restricts parking to 30 mins between the hours of 8 am 

and 6.00pm (No return within one hour). This will provide turnaround for local businesses 

during the day and unlimited parking during the evenings. Further parking is available in the 

surrounding area. Further to my site visit parking in general within the vicinity of the site was 

not particularly oversubscribed in in terms of demand during the day, although it is likely 

parking will be more significant in the evenings. Nevertheless given the sustainable location 

and the availability of some on street parking, there is no objection to the application. I note 

that (ref: Design, Access and Heritage Statement Ref:20014 Rev.v1.0 October 2020) shows 

that provision for cycle storage has been allocated in the rear yard, this will ensure 

sustainable transport is encouraged and will improve the sustainability credentials of the site. 

The development is unlikely to have a significant detrimental impact upon the highway 

network or its users. Consequently the County Council would make no highway objection to 

the proposal however, I would recommend the following condition: Condition  Secure and 

covered cycle storage is provided at a rate of one cycle space per unit. Reason: to increase 

the sustainability credentials of the site and encourage none car modus travel. 

 

Environmental Health  

 

Two site preparation and construction conditions and mechanical ventilation condition 

recommended. 

 

Sound Insulation for conversions into multiple residential units: Prior to the first occupation of 

the development hereby approved, a test report for sound insulation and noise reduction 

measures installed in the development both between floors and party walls, from an 

accredited test engineer / acoustic consultant (according to the requirements of BS 

Page 6



8233:2014) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

The approved measures installed shall then be maintained for the duration of the 

development.  The party wall with any adjacent dwelling shall also comply with Building 

Regulations 2010 Document Part E. 

 

Reason: In the interest of residential amenity in accordance with the provisions of Env7 of 

the Hyndburn Core Strategy and Development Management Development Plan Document 

DM29. 

 

United Utilities (extract): 

 

… In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National 

Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG), the site should be drained on a separate system with 

foul water draining to the public sewer and surface water draining in the most sustainable 

way. The NPPG clearly outlines the hierarchy to be investigated by the developer when 

considering a surface water drainage strategy. We would ask the developer to consider the 

following drainage options in the following order of priority: 1. into the ground (infiltration); 2. 

to a surface water body; 3. to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage 

system; 4. to a combined sewer. We recommend the applicant implements the scheme in 

accordance with the surface water drainage hierarchy outlined above…. 

 

… Although water supply in the area is compliant with current regulatory standards, we 

recommend the applicant provides water storage of 24 hours capacity to guarantee an 

adequate and constant supply…. 

 

 

Relevant Planning History 

 

No relevant planning history 

 

Relevant Policies 

 

National Planning Policy Framework 

Hyndburn Core Strategy Policies BD1, H1, Env4, Env6, Env7 

Development Management DPD: Policies GC1, DM8, DM10, DM16, DM22, DM26, DM 29 

DM31 DM32 

 

 

Observations 

 

Planning law requires that planning applications should be determined in accordance with 

the policies of the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Although the former public house may have some heritage value by virtue of its age and 

design, no significant external alterations are proposed and putting the building back into an 

acceptable use would help secure long term protection of the former public house.   

Page 7



The main issues raised by this development relate to the principle of the development, the 

loss of the public house and the quality of the living accommodation proposed.  These will be 

considered in turn. 

 

The Principle of the Development 

 

The Core Strategy recognises Housing as a key issue in Hyndburn and one of the strategic 

objectives of the Council’s policy is to provide for a greater choice and quality of housing.  It 

seeks to do this in three main ways including: 

 To ensure that all new property will be built to high standards, in sustainable 

locations, making the best use of brownfield land and to designs which minimise 

carbon emissions and relate well to local character, and 

 To ensure that areas of low demand housing are regenerated with a wider range of 

improved and new housing and supported facilities, including local health centres 

and public open spaces.   

 

The proposed development is located within walking distance of Accrington Town Centre 

and is therefore considered to be in a sustainable location in accordance with Policy BD1 of 

the Hyndburn Core Strategy.  In planning terms it is also desirable to see the redevelopment 

of derelict or unused buildings, but in this case this is subject to the site being marketed and 

the proposed use being acceptable.   

 

The redevelopment of Public Houses 

 

Policy DM8 of the Development Management DPD concerns public houses and states that 

proposals for the loss of a public house through demolition, or change of use to any other 

class, will be supported if an applicant can demonstrate that: 

a) The public house has been marketed as a public house, at market rate, for a 

consistent period of 12 months; and 

b) The loss of the pub will not result in a shortage of local pub provision in the 

area; or 

c) The public house is no longer economically viable.   

 

Although the applicant has submitted a Marketing Report that indicates that the property was 

sold in August 2020, it contains no details of how the property was marketed and the period 

of time it was marketed over.  The Marketing Report maintains that the owner was in the 

process of converting the building into apartments, this work ceased and the building was 

just left in a derelict state.  The report maintains that there have been attempts to attract 

investors, no details of how this has been done have been provided.  Unfortunately the 

inside of the public house has been gutted, an action that has made the re-use of the public 

house significantly more expensive and less likely.  Notwithstanding the internal condition of 

the building and a late submission from the applicant detailing other vacant public houses in 

the area, the applicant has not addressed these requirements of Policy DM8.   

 

Policy DM8 also requires that in all circumstances the proposed development should not 

have a detrimental effect on the design, character and heritage of the existing public house 

Page 8



and / or the wider streetscape.  The proposed development satisfies this element of the 

policy.   

 

The development of a house in multiple occupation 

 

Although the development plan contains no specific policy guidance in relation to houses in 

multiple occupation, the Council has adopted the nationally described space standards.  

Policy DM16 of the Development Management DPD concerns Housing Standards and part 3 

of the policy expects applicants to design schemes in accordance with the nationally 

described standards, including sufficient built in storage.  The standards require a minimum 

size of 11.5m2  for a double bedroom (with a minimum width of 2.75m for at least one double 

room and 2.5m for all the others) and a minimum size for a single bedroom of 7.5 m2 (at 

least 2.15m wide).   

 

The applicant proposes the conversion of a public house into a 13 bed house in multiple 

occupation over three floors with a communal kitchen / living area on the first floor and in the 

basement.  Each bedroom has a small en-suite bathroom, which is not included in the 

measurement of the floorspace of the bedroom itself.  The smallest 4 bedrooms measure 

between 6.67 and 7.36m2 in size and do not meet the minimum standard.  The remaining 

bedrooms range from 7.83 to 13.29m2.  The proposed plans suggest they would be single 

bedrooms and this is supported by the application form.   

 

The smallest rooms appear to reflect the standards set out in separate national guidance 

“Housing in multiple occupation and residential property licensing reform: guidance for local 

authorities” which suggests that a minimum standard for sleeping areas of 6.51m2 for one 

person over 10 years of age and 10.22m2 for two persons over 10 years.  Notwithstanding 

this, since the Council has adopted the nationally described space standards, these are the 

standards that should be used.   

 

Four of the bedrooms would not meet the minimum standard for single bedrooms and for 

this reason the proposal is not considered acceptable.  Both the nationally described space 

standards and separate HMO guidance set out minimum standards and are not intended to 

represent the optimum room size.  This is particularly the case for the HMO guidance which 

sets a minimum statutory standard which is largely targeted at existing HMO’s in order to 

protect the basis amenity of residents against “rogue landlords”.  The Council would 

therefore reasonably expect higher standards for a new HMO.   

 

The proposed development is a good example of this.  No outdoor amenity space is 

provided and communal living space is not provided on every floor, meaning that residents 

would be expected to spend much of their time within their own rooms which are to perform 

a greater function than just a sleeping space.   

 

Conclusion  

 

The application site is in proximity to Accrington town centre and the redevelopment of this 

former public house would contribute towards the regeneration of this area of Accrington.  

Page 9



Whilst these factors weigh in favour of the development, the applicant has failed to 

demonstrate that the property has been marketed as a public house in accordance with 

Policy DM16 of the Development Management DPD.  More significantly, the room sizes 

proposed fall short of the minimum standards set out by the nationally described space 

standards.  The Council has adopted these standards as a means of seeking to improve 

housing standards for future Hyndburn residents and proposals that do not provide good 

quality living space should not be supported.  

 

Recommendation:  

 

That planning permission be refused for the following reasons: 

 

Reasons: 

 

1. The applicant has failed to demonstrate that the former public house has been 

marketed for a consistent period of 12 months and that the public house is no 

longer economically viable, contrary to Policy DM8 Public Houses of the 

Development Management DPD.   

 

2. The proposed development has not been designed to meet the standards required 

by the nationally described space standards to the detriment of the amenity of 

future residents, contrary to Policy DM16 Housing Standards of the Development 

Management DPD.   

 

Informatives 

 

1) 20 

2) NPPF 

 

 

Note for Members of Planning Committee to consider 

 

If members of Planning Committee are minded to approve the application, Officer’s 

recommend that a number of conditions should be attached:  

- Development to commence within 3 years of approval (standard condition) 

- The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved plans.   

Page 10



Hyndburn Borough Council – Committee Update Report 

 

 

Application Ref:    11/20/0369 

  

Application Address:  36 NUTTALL STREET (FORMER BRITANNIA PUBLIC HOUSE) 

ACCRINGTON BB5 2HN 

 

Date Registered:   20 October 2020 

 

Date for Decision:   30 November 2020 

 

Date Report Written:  20 November 2020 

 

Description of Development:  Change of use of public house into 13 bed house in multiple 

occupation.   

 

 

Additional Information: 

 

Neighbour Comment Received 

 

A neighbour’s property adjoins the Britannia Public House. The party wall between the properties is 

only a single brick thick and is easily penetrated. The change of use will place bedrooms/individual 

living spaces and a communal lounge adjacent the party wall. Due to the sloping site the cellar 

partly adjoins the front room. Although the use of a public house presented noise pollution, this was 

generally limited to opening hours and busy periods. The new use is likely to cause noise pollution 

at all times from four separate occupiers and a communal area. The planning makes no reference 

to the historic construction and acoustic considerations necessary. For these reasons the 

neighbour objects to this current application. 

  

Officer Comment: Should committee decide to approve the application, a planning condition should 

be applied which requires details to be submitted of sound insulation. 

 

Revised Plans Received 

 

Revised plans were received after the report was written. These will be presented at the meeting. 

 

Revised Comments from Planning Policy 

 

In response to the revised plans, the planning policy comments are as follow The dimensions have 

been emboldened simply to allow them to be located in the text. 

 

Space standards 

 

The application proposes the conversion of a public house into a 13 bed HMO over three floors 

with a communal kitchen/living area on the first floor and in the basement.  Each bedroom has a 

Page 11



small en-suite bathroom, which is not included in the measurement of the floor space of the 

bedroom itself.  

 

Revised plans have been submitted which show that the smallest 4 bedrooms measure between 

7.55 and 7.83 m2 in size. The remaining bedrooms range from 8 to 13.29 m2.   

 

Apart from the overall room floorspace, no other measurements are provided, such as the room 

widths.  The proposed plans suggest these would be single bedrooms.  

 

Hyndburn Council has formally adopted the Nationally Described Space Standards (NDSS), as set 

out in policy DM16 of the adopted Development Management DPD, which require a minimum size 

of 11.5 m2 for a double bedroom (with a minimum width of 2.75 m for at least one double room and 

2.5m for all the others) and a minimum size for a single bedroom of 7.5 m2 (at least 2.15m wide).   

 

The rooms proposed would meet the standards set out in separate national guidance “Housing in 

multiple occupation and residential property licensing reform: guidance for local housing 

authorities” which suggests a minimum standard for sleeping areas of 6.51 m2 for one person over 

10 years of age and 10.22 m2 for two persons over 10 years. Notwithstanding this, as the Council 

has adopted NDSS, these are the standards which should be used.  

 

The floorspace of the bedrooms now appears to meet the minimum standard for a single bedroom 

as set out in NDSS.  However, the NDSS guidance is clear that room widths are an integral part of 

the space standard and, as there are no room width measurements provided, it cannot be 

confirmed that the rooms meet the NDSS. Further information should be provided which shows 

these measurements, including the width of the narrowest part of the room.   

 

The increase in the size of the smallest rooms has had the effect of making the corridors narrower 

which could make the overall internal space feel cramped.  Also, the configuration and layout of 

some of the rooms means there is very little usable space inside. For example, some of the 

bedrooms effectively have internal L-shaped corridors which could not accommodate any furniture 

or possessions or otherwise be usable. Whilst the overall square metres of the room may meet the 

minimum standard, the functional space is very small.   

 

It is important to remember that both the NDSS and the separate national HMO guidance set out 

minimum standards and are not intended to represent the optimum room size.  This is particularly 

the case for the HMO guidance which sets a minimum statutory standard which is largely targeted 

at existing HMOs in order to protect the basic amenity of residents against “rogue landlords”. The 

Council would therefore reasonably expect higher standards for a new HMO.   

 

This is particularly the case given the fact that communal living space is not provided on every floor 

where bedrooms are present and there is no outdoor amenity space. It is therefore clear that 

residents would be expected to spend much of their time within their own rooms which are to 

perform a greater function than just a “sleeping space”.   

 

Loss of the Public House 

 

Policy DM8 (Public Houses) requires the loss of a public house to be justified, as they can play an 

important social and economic role, providing a community facility as well as employment 

Page 12



opportunities.  The policy states that “Proposals for the loss of a public house through demolition, 

or change of use to any other use class, will only be supported if an applicant can demonstrate 

that: 

a.  the public house has been marketed as a public house, at market rate, for a consistent 

period of 12 months; and 

b.  the loss of the pub will not result in a shortfall of local pub provision in the area; or 

c.  the public house is no longer economically viable. 

 

The CAMRA guidance on viability referred to the policy explanation can be found here: https://s3-

eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/www1-camra/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/14082430/Public-House-

Viability-Test-v.2015.pdf. 

 

The application has a marketing report but this lacks adequate information and does not address 

the other criteria. The policy does not refer to the length of time that a public house has remained 

vacant before a change of use is proposed but this may be a relevant factor, as long as the 

applicant can demonstrate that the building was appropriately marketed in the past, in line with the 

policy. 

 

Comment from the Borough Conservation Officer 

 

The stone-built Britannia Inn is a non-designated heritage asset which was built around 1860. It is 

covered by Policy DM22 of the Development Management DPD. If the application is approved, a 

building archaeological recording condition should be applied in accordance with this policy. 

There are two parts to the Nuttall Street frontage.  On the right is the three bay main front of the 

pub, with a central door and windows either side on the ground and first floors. On the left is the 

three bay frontage of the former stables with characteristic arched window and circular pitching 

hole above. Between the two are the windows of a cottage, where the door has been bricked up. 

This may have been the landlord’s house.  

 

The Nelson Street frontage is almost identical to the main Nuttall Street front but with a central first 

floor window where, on the Nuttall Street side, there was the original pub sign (now removed). The 

two frontages are separated by a vertical line of robust quoins at the corner of the building. This 

double symmetrical frontage gives the building a strong presence at the road junction. The roof is 

hipped so the gutter line wraps around the corner adding to the unity of the two elevations. There is 

a beer drop on the right hand side of the Nelson Street frontage. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Amended Reason for Refusal 

 

In addition to the revised comments above by the Policy Officer concerning the quality of design 

and amenity of the some of the rooms and corridors, it should be noted that the basement 

communal room and two first floor bedrooms have levels of natural lighting which are considered 

inadequate  to the detriment of residential amenity. 

 

In the light of the above, it is therefore recommended that the second reason for refusal should be 

amended to: 

Page 13

https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/www1-camra/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/14082430/Public-House-Viability-Test-v.2015.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/www1-camra/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/14082430/Public-House-Viability-Test-v.2015.pdf
https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/www1-camra/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/14082430/Public-House-Viability-Test-v.2015.pdf


2  The proposed development has not been designed to meet the standards required by 

the nationally described space standards nor to the amenity levels required by the 

Development Management DPD to the detriment of the amenity of future residents, 

contrary to Policy DM16 Housing Standards and Policy DM29: Environmental 

Amenity, of the Development Management DPD.   

Page 14


	Agenda
	2. Minutes of the Last Meeting
	3. Town and Country Planning Act 1990- Planning Applications for Determination
	11-20-0369 36 NUTTALL STREET (FORMER BRITANNIA PUBLIC HOUSE) ACC - additional information


